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A P P E A R A N C E S:William J. Larkin 2d, Esq.,for the HospitalWilliam S. Zeman, Esq.,for the Union

DECISION AND ORDERStatement of the CaseOn March 27, 1973, the Agent of the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations, hereinafter the Board,issued a complaint against Winsted Memorial Hospital, hereinafter the Hospital, alleging that the Hospitalhad violated the Labor Relations Act, Sections 31-101 et seq. of the Connecticut General Statutes ,hereinafter the Act, by refusing to bargain with Local 1303, Council #4, American Federation of State,County & Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, hereinafter the Union, which had been duly certified by theBoard as exclusive representative for purposes of collective bargaining of a unit of certain Hospitalemployees.On April 4, 1973, the Hospital filed an answer to this complaint containing specific admissions anddenials and also a special defense alleging in effect that the Union had lost its majority status at the timeof the alleged refusal to bargain and that "[c]onsequently … the burden of proof is upon the Board toshow that the Union represented a majority of the employees in an appropriate unit after the expirationof the contract and at the present time."The Union filed an amended charge at the hearing on April. 23, 1973, which was superseded by a secondamended charge filed on April 27, 1973. The second amended charge repeated the substance of theoriginal complaint and added thereto the following allegations:“4. By notice dated March 9, 1973, the Employer unilaterally ceaseddeduction of Union dues from employees' wages.



5. On and after January 1, 1973, the Employer has joined with Mrs.Lorraine Whitman and Mrs. Rosalyn Alexis in the solicitation ofsignatures to withdraw from and not be represented by the Unionby giving permission and approval for such solicitation within theHospital Building under Hospital Rules. By giving said permissionand approval, the Employer has made said Petitions, the Employer'sPetitions, in violation of Section 31-105 (3) of the Connecticut StateLabor Relations Act."The matter duly came on for hearings before the Board at the Hospital building on April 23 and May 22,1973, and at the Labor Department building in Wethersfield on May 29, 1973, at all of which the partiesappeared and were represented by counsel. Full opportunity was given to adduce evidence, examine andcross-examine witnesses, and make argument. Both parties filed written briefs, the later of which wasreceived on August 6, 1973.9. On January 25, 1973, Mr. Green sent the Union the following letter:"I acknowledge receipt of your letter of January 17, 1973 in reference to Winsted MemorialHospital Employees Local 1303 of Council #4 being ready to proceed with contract negotiations.We do not wish to proceed with contract negotiations, for we do not believe that a majority of theemployees in the present unit wish to be represented by the AFL-CIO beyond the expiration of thepresent contract. We, at this point, feel that another election should be held. Awaiting your reply, Iam, ... ”10. At the time he wrote the letter set forth in paragraph 9, Mr. green had before him the followingfacts:a) There were 81 employees in the unit. (186)b) The number of employees on dues check-off in December, 1972, was 49; the number inJanuary, 1973, was 47 (186-187).c) During December, 1972, the payroll clerk informed Robert M. Palmer, the Hospital'scomptroller and personnel director that seven members of the unit had telephoned arequest that their names be withdrawn from dues check-off; this information was relayedby Palmer to Green (22, 181).d) [I]t had come to [his] ears more or less verbally that there was a lot of dissention aroundthe Hospital, a lot of people apparently were very unhappy with the Union and they didn'tfeel that this Union was really representative.” (179).11. On January 25th Green did not really know whether a majority of employees in the unit wanted tobe represented by the Union (181).12. On March 9, 1973, the Hospital ceased to deduct Union clues.13. A day or two before February 22, 1972, Lorraine Whitman, a member of the bargaining unit whodid not believe in unions and had never joined one, asked Mr. Green for permission to circulate onhospital property a petition stating that the undersigned did not wish to be in the Union or to haveUnion dues taken out of their pay.



14. Mr. Green gave such permission but said the petition should be circulated on coffee-break timeother than on working time.15. Mr. Green also told Mrs. Whitman "if she wanted advice and so forth, [he] would not discuss itwith her, she should call the Connecticut State Labor Department, if she wanted any guidance."16. There is no evidence that any employee in the unit called the Board office.17. Had anyone done so, the invariable practice of the office personnel is to advise an employee to filea petition with the Board for an election and to offer help in preparing such petition.18. When Mrs. Whitman sought permission to circulate her petition, the Hospital had a ruleforbidding solicitation "on the grounds or in the building” without prior approval by theadministrator.19. There was no evidence that such permission had been granted or withheld on an arbitrary ordiscriminatory basis.20. Eighteen members of the bargaining unit signed Mrs. Whitman's petition. She handed it to Palmeron February 22nd.21. On April 2, 1973, the Hospital posted the following notice:“SUBJECT:   Increase in Pay and BenefitsTO: All Department Heads
Conclusions of Law1. After the end of a year from the time of certification of a labor organization as the exclusivebargaining representative of employees in a unit, the employer may, if there is no contract ineffect, refuse to bargain with the representative on the ground that it has lost its majority statussubject to the conditions specified in paragraph 2(a) and (b), infra.2. If the employer is charged with unfair labor practice for such refusal, he may successfully defendagainst such charges if he bears the burden of proving eithera) that the Union had lost its majority status at the time of such refusal, orb) that the employer had at that time a reasonable and bona fide doubt about the majoritystatus of the representative, provided the employer engages in no conduct which violatesthe Act and creates an atmosphere in which a fair and free election cannot be held within areasonable time after the hearing before the Board on the charge.3. The Hospital waived the Contract requirement of sixty (60) day notice by its conduct ina) seeking to terminate the Contract by notice within that time, andb) objecting to the Union notice of January 17, 1973, on other grounds but not on grounds oflateness.



4. The Hospital did not prove that the Union had in fact lost its majority status on January 25, 1973,but did prove that it had on that day a reasonable and bona fide doubt about that status.5. The granting of a pay raise on April 2, 1973, to all employees except those represented by labororganizations under the circumstances and in the manner disclosed by the evidence in the recordconstituted a violation of Section 31-105(5) of the Act and created an atmosphere in which a fairand free election cannot be held within a reasonable time of this Order.6. 'l'he purposes of the Act will best be served by an order that the Hospital bargain with the Union.7. There is no sufficient basis in the evidence for awarding any other relief (except that which isancillary to the order to bargain). O R D E RUpon the basis of the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law and pursuant to the power vestedin the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations by the Connecticut State Labor Relations Act, it isORDERED, that Respondent, its agents, successors and assigns, shall:1. Cease and desist from:Refusing to bargain collectively with Local 1303, Council #4, American Federation of State, County& Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, as the exclusive representative of all non-supervisory and non-professional employees in Administration, Department of Radiology (including X-RayTechnicians), Medical Record Department, Building Services; Nursing Service and Food ServiceDivision, who work 20 or more hours weekly, excluding the Secretaries to the Administrator andController, Licensed Practical Nurses, and Laboratory Technicians in the Department of Pathology,employed by the Respondent, with respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment or otherconditions of employment.2. Take the following affirmative action which the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations findswill effectuate the policies of the Act concerning labor relations:



UNITED STATE DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

CONNECTICUT STATE BOARD OF LABOR
RELATIONS

:

v. : CIVIL NO, H-74-359

WINSTED MEMORIAL HOSPITAL :

MEMORANDUM OF DECISIONThis action was initiated in the Superior Court for Litchfield County by the Connecticut State Board ofLabor Relations as a petition for the enforcement of a previously issued order to bargain against thedefendant, Winsted Memorial Hospital. The defendant filed a petition for removal pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1441 (1970) in which it alleged that this court had original jurisdiction of the action and thus removaljurisdiction was proper. In addition, it filed an answer and counterclaim, the theory of both being that therecent enactment of the Act of July 26, 1974, Pub. L. No. 93-360, 88 Stat. 395, extending the coverage andprotection of the National Labor Relations Act to the employees of non-profit hospitals, had pre-emptedthe field and stripped the State Board of jurisdiction over any labor disputes between the defendanthospital and its employees. See St. Francis Hospital v. Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations, Civ. No.H-74-344 (D. Conn. Nov. 1, 1974). Shortly after the filing of its removal petition to which the plaintiff hasnot objected, the defendant filed a motion for summary judgment. I cannot reach the merits of thatmotion, because it has become apparent that this court lacks jurisdiction over this case and thus it mustbe remanded to state court. 28 U.S.C. § 1447(c) (1970).In its petition for removal the defendant relies upon 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a) (1970) which provides that onlythose actions are removable over which "the district court of the United States have original jurisdiction."The defendant in its petition alleged that this court had jurisdiction under 29 U.S.C. § 185 (1970) of a suitby the Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations to enforce an order of that Board. On its face, § 185 isclearly inapplicable. It provides for district court jurisdiction over "(s)uits for violation ofcontracts between an employer and a labor organization representing employees in an industry affectingcommerce ….” (Emphasis added.) The State Board's suit is not based upon a violation of any contract, butrather upon the defendant's alleged failure to comply with an order of the State Board. It is also clear thatthere are no other bases upon which jurisdiction over the Board's action could be predicated.At the same time, it is also apparent that the defendant's counterclaim seeking to enjoin the State Boardfrom asserting jurisdiction or enforcing its order on the basis of the pre-emptive effect of federal law,cannot provide a basis for removal under 28 U.S.C. § 1441. While that I claim might have been maintained



pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1337 (1970) as an original action in federal court,1/ see St. Francis Hospital v.Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations, supra, at 1 u.2, “it is evident that a federally-basedcounterclaim will not support the exercise of removal jurisdiction." Denver Union Stock Yard Co. v. LitvakMeat Co., 295 F. Supp. 809, 811 (D. Colo. 1968); see United Artists Corp. v. Ancore Amusement Corp., 91 F.Supp. 132 (S.D. N.Y. 1950); cf. 1A J. Moore federal Practice ¶ 0.167[8] (2d ed. rel. no. 26-1974). See alsoLouisville & Nashville R. R. Co, v. Mottley, 211 U.S. 149 (1908). Removability can be determined only onthe basis of the complaint. See 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b) (1970).Accordingly, this case should be remanded to the Superior Court for Litchfield County pursuant to 28U.S.C. § 1447(c) (1970) . See Teeter v. Iowa-Illinois Gas & Electric, Co., 237 F. Supp.361 (N.D. Iowa 1964);Bradford v. Mitchell Bros. Truck Lines, 217 F. Supp. 525 (N.D. Cal. 1963). Adams  v. Ralph V. SmithLumber Co., 181 F. Supp. 129 (N.D. Cal. 1960). It isSO ORDEREDDated at Hartford, Connecticut this 12th day of March, 1975.
M. Joseph BlumenfeldM. Joseph BlumenfeldUnited States District Judge

1/ Indeed, there is no reason why such an action could not proceed concurrently with the state action. 1A J. Moore, FederalPractice, ¶¶ 0.219. 0.221 (2d ed. 1959). However, there might be certain constraints upon the scope of relief which couldbe afforded in view of the pendency of the proceedings in the state court: See 28 U.S.C. § 22.83 (1970).


